STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THOMAS ROBERT SHEWTZUK,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001957

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err when she denied Appellant's request for a continuance and/or bifurcation of the sentencing proceeding and sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole without the benefit of an individualized sentencing hearing?

II. Did the judge err by admitting DNA evidence where the state failed to prove the chain of custody as far as practicable by failing to present evidence of how the DNA evidence was transported from the local sheriff's office to the SLED laboratory?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 2015 a Dorchester County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and two counts of kidnapping. R. 411-412; R. 414-415; R. 417-418; R. 420-421. On June 2, 2016, the grand jury indicted him for a third count of kidnapping. R. 423-424. The state, represented by Glenn Justis and Kyle Ward, called the case to trial before the Honorable Maite Murphy and a jury on September 6-8, 2016. R. 1. Leslie Sarji represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 287, l. 19 – R. 288, l. 6. Judge Murphy sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for murder, to thirty years imprisonment for two counts of kidnapping, and to five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 315, l. 21 – R. 316, l. 9; R. 413; R. 416; R. 419; R. 422; R. 425. She imposed no sentence for the third count of kidnapping in light of the life sentence for murder. R. 316, ll. 6-9.

On September 16, 2016, Appellant served a notice of appeal. When the trial transcript was received, appellate counsel discovered the bench conferences were not recorded or transcribed. The transcript contained numerous instances of assurances that the bench conferences were being recorded. See e.g., R. 135, l. 19 – R. 136, l. 6; R. 192, l. 22 – R. 193, l. 2. Therefore, appellate counsel moved to reconstruct the record of the bench conferences on April 6, 2017. The state consented to the motion. On May 11, 2017, this Court granted the motion. On July 17, 2017, Judge Murphy convened a hearing to reconstruct the record. R. 317. Undersigned counsel represented Appellant, and Glenn Justis represented the state. R. 317. On August 31, 2017, Judge Murphy issued an order regarding her findings concerning reconstruction. R. 404.

Appellant now files this brief.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred when she denied Appellant's request for a continuance and/or bifurcation of the sentencing proceeding and sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole without the benefit of an individualized sentencing hearing.

Relevant facts

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to continue the trial or to bifurcate the trial and sentencing proceeding. R. 3, ll. 1-13; R. 366. At the time of the shooting, Appellant was eighteen years and six months old. R. 3, ll. 17-18. Citing Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), defense counsel argued Appellant was similarly situated to those under eighteen years of age and entitled to the same privileges and protections. R. 3, l. 18 – R. 4, l. 8.

Defense counsel explained:

[T]he science behind the decision in Miller versus Alabama and Roper versus Simmons and Graham versus Florida, which is all aligned -- United States Supreme Court cases that led to the decision in Miller versus Alabama. All of them recognize that the reason that we are treating 17-year-olds as juveniles and treating them differently for purposes of crimes which carry life without parole sentences is that children, juveniles, have less of an ability to appreciate the consequences of their actions. They act more impulsively and that sort of thing. And, Judge the science behind these rationales is equally applicable to Mr. Shewtzuk.

R. 4, ll. 8-20.

According to defense counsel, studies comparing individuals aged 13 to 25 showed those “aged 18 to 21 behave more like individuals ages 13 to 17, i.e., juveniles, than they do like individuals aged 22 to 25.” R. 5, ll. 7-16. Additionally, those ages 18 to 21 also displayed “immature engagement of prefrontal regions in the brain, which is our part of the brain that once it is fully developed is important for overriding predominately emotional reactions.” R. 5, ll. 16-

23. Thus, defense counsel argued Appellant was “entitled to have a full Aiken versus Byars hearing.” R. 5, l. 24 – R. 6, l. 4.

Counsel requested a continuance or bifurcation to permit her to investigate the facts relevant to the Miller factors. Such an investigation was particularly required in this case based upon defense counsel’s preliminary investigation revealing Appellant was sexually abused, had a father who was imprisoned for a homicide when Appellant was only four years old, and had a mother who engaged in prostitution and had introduced Appellant to methamphetamine. R. 6, l. 18 – R. 7, l. 1. Additionally, Appellant “spent time in both Connie Maxwell and John de la Howe.” R. 7, ll. 2-3.

The state argued the motion was premature. R. 8, ll. 17-18. Additionally, the state argued Appellant was not entitled to an individualized sentencing hearing because of his age. R. 8, l. 23 – R. 9, l. 13. Finally, the solicitor argued the state would be prejudiced by a delay because the outcome of a co-defendant’s case was dependent upon the outcome of Appellant’s case, and that the deceased’s family would be prejudiced by not getting closure. R. 9, l. 15 – R. 10, l. 8.

The judge denied defense counsel’s motion for a continuance, holding Appellant was not entitled to an individualized sentencing proceeding under “the black letter law.” R. 10, ll. 9-20. Regarding the request for bifurcation, Judge Murphy concluded the request was premature. R. 10, ll. 21-23. After noting every sentencing proceeding allowed for presentation of mitigating and aggravating evidence, Judge Murphy determined the bifurcation motion was not ripe unless Appellant were convicted. R. 11, ll. 1-4.

When the jury returned with guilty verdicts, defense counsel renewed her request to bifurcate the sentencing hearing to permit her an opportunity to investigate, marshal, and present

the powerful mitigation evidence her limited investigation revealed existed during an individualized sentencing hearing pursuant to Aiken. R. 289, ll. 6-25. Defense counsel had requested and paid for records pertaining to Appellant's commitment to William S. Hall for 90 days, but she had not received those records at the time of the trial. R. 290, ll. 5-15. However, defense counsel had records from Connie Maxwell, a children's home, where Appellant lived when he was younger. R. 290, ll. 15-18.

Defense counsel noted that a sentence of forty or fifty years amounted to a life sentence because "statistically he dies in prison." R. 290, ll. 22-24.

Judge Murphy refused to bifurcate the proceedings to allow an investigation for presentation of evidence at an individualized sentencing proceeding in accordance with Aiken. R. 293, ll. 1-9. According to the judge, Aiken, did not apply to Appellant because he was eighteen years old at the time of the crime. R. 293, ll. 4-8.

When defense counsel presented her mitigation case, she reminded the judge of his father's incarceration and his mother's prostitution. R. 304, ll. 21-22; R. 305, ll. 4-5. His aunt told defense counsel that Appellant, as a child, would go days without eating. R. 305, ll. 6-12. Appellant suffered sexual abuse at the hands of one of his mother's many boyfriends. R. 305, ll. 16-18. When he was twelve, his mother dropped him off at Connie Maxwell for the weekend, but never returned. R. 306, ll. 1-4.

According to defense counsel, Appellant's aunt was unable to attend the court proceedings, but she had valuable information concerning Appellant's upbringing. R. 306, l. 22 – R. 307, l. 1. Had the judge granted the continuance or bifurcation to permit an Aiken sentencing proceeding, Appellant's aunt could have testified. R. 306, l. 22 – R. 307, l. 1. For a period of time, Appellant lived with his grandfather, but his grandfather sent him back to Connie

Maxwell when he learned he would not receive an increase in his social security benefits. R. 307, ll. 10-13.

In 2011, Appellant left Connie Maxwell and went to John de la Howe. R. 307, l. 23 – R. 308, l. 2. Defense counsel had no records from John le la Howe. R. 308, ll. 2-3. Overcome with emotion, defense counsel pleaded for justice tempered by mercy. R. 308, ll. 6-20. She requested the minimum sentence of thirty years, explaining that he would likely die in prison even serving a thirty-year sentence based on the statistics. R. 309, ll. 7-10.

When imposing the life without parole sentence, Judge Murphy claimed she understood Appellant “had and dealt with a difficult hand in life.” R. 314, ll. 22-24. She acknowledged that Appellant’s “parents completely failed [him].” R. 314, l. 24. However, it was her contention that the absolute neglect and abuse Appellant suffered did not give him “a free license to kill people.” R. 314, l. 25 – R. 315, l. 1. Despite being “empathetic” to Appellant’s past, Judge Murphy claimed Appellant had “free will and choices to make” and one of those choices was “terrible.” R. 315, ll. 17-19. She implored that Appellant must “pay the consequences” for that terrible choice he made at only eighteen years of age. R. 315, ll. 19-20. According to Judge Murphy, Appellant would have to pay with his life – she sentenced him to life without parole for murder. R. 316, ll. 4-6; R. 413.

Discussion

Defense counsel requested a continuance in order to prepare for an individualized sentencing proceeding in order to investigate, marshal, and present evidence of the hallmark characteristics of youth, which the judge would need to consider in order to fashion a constitutional sentence. In the alternative, defense counsel requested bifurcation of the trial from the sentencing hearing, with the sentencing hearing occurring several months after the trial, to

permit the necessary investigation and presentation of evidence relevant to sentencing an individualized sentencing proceeding. The judge denied the requests, finding Appellant was not entitled to an individualized sentencing proceeding where the evidence of the hallmark characteristics of youth and the potential for rehabilitation could be presented and considered by the judge because Appellant was chronologically eighteen years of age at the time of the shooting. Thus, in order to analyze this issue, it is first necessary to establish that Appellant was entitled to such a hearing, followed by a discussion of the judge's failure to grant the continuance request and/or bifurcation request.

Individualized sentencing proceeding

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution bars "cruel and unusual punishments." U.S. Const. amend VIII. "The basic concept underlying the Eighth Amendment is nothing less than the dignity of man. ... The Amendment must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society." Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 100-101 (1958). "To determine whether a punishment is cruel and unusual, courts must look beyond historical conceptions to 'the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.'" Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 58 (2010)(quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976)). "Embodied in the Constitution's ban on cruel and unusual punishment is the 'precept of justice that punishment for the crime should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.'" Id. at 59 (quoting Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 367 (1910)). Similarly, the South Carolina Constitution prohibits "cruel," "corporal," and "unusual punishments." S.C. Const. art. I, § 15:

Recently, the United States Supreme Court held life sentences for non-homicide crimes committed while the defendant was under the age of eighteen violated the Eighth Amendment to the

United States Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 74-76. The Graham Court found that the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment forbids the states from determining at sentencing that a juvenile non-homicide offender will never be fit to reenter society. Id. at 74-75. Instead, juvenile non-homicide offenders must be given a meaningful opportunity to obtain release. Id. at 82.

A sentence of life imprisonment without parole “forfeits altogether the rehabilitative ideal.” Such a sentence “is not appropriate in light of a juvenile non-homicide offender’s capacity for change and limited moral culpability.” Id. at 74. The United States Constitution forbids judges from making subjective determinations at sentencing that a juvenile non-homicide offender has demonstrated an “irretrievably depraved character.” Id. at 76. The Court was clear that a state “need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before the end of that term.” Id. at 82.

Following Graham, one of the questions confronting courts has been what constitutes a “juvenile.” In order to answer this question, a review the evolution of the Court’s Eighth Amendment jurisprudence is of assistance and of particular import to Appellant’s appeal.

Over the years, the cases addressing the proportionality of sentences have developed along two general lines. The first is concerned with the particular circumstances of the case and whether the defendant’s sentence for a term of years is grossly disproportionate given the particular offense. Graham, 560 U.S. at 59; Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1005 (1991). The second classification of cases is concerned with categorical rules as applied to groups of offenses or groups of offenders. Graham, 560 U.S. at 60-61. For example, Supreme Court categorical rulings related to categories of offenses prohibit the imposition of the death penalty for non-homicide crimes against individuals. Id. (citing Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008)). Categorical rulings

prior to Graham prohibited the death penalty for defendants who committed their crimes before the age of eighteen, Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), or whose intellectual functioning is in a low range, Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). Graham, 560 U.S. at 61.

When adopting categorical proportionality rules, the Court first considers “objective indicia of society’s standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice” to determine whether there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. Id. at 61 (quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 572). Generally, the Court has relied on social science data and statistics to discern “society’s evolving standards of decency.” Roper, 543 U.S. at 560-77. “[G]uided by ‘the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court’s own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment’s text, history, meaning, and purpose,’” the Court, in the exercise of its own independent judgment, then determines whether the punishment in question violates the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution. Graham, 560 U.S. at 61 (quoting Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 421 (2008)).

In Roper, the Supreme Court established a categorical ban on the death penalty for juveniles relying in large part on social science research indicating that youths have a lessened culpability and are less deserving of the most severe punishments. 543 U.S. at 569-75. Juvenile offenders are fundamentally different from adults for purposes of sentencing for three reasons: (1) they are immature and have “an underdeveloped sense of responsibility;” (2) they “are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure;” and (3) their characters are “not as well formed” as adults. Id. at 569-70 (internal citations omitted). “It is difficult even for expert psychologists to differentiate between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” Id. at 573. Therefore, “juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be

classified among the worst offenders.” Id. While “[a] juvenile is not absolved of responsibility for his actions,” his transgressions are “not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

Sixteen-year old Terrance Graham was charged with armed burglary and attempted armed robbery of a barbeque restaurant. Id. at 53. Graham entered guilty pleas to both charges pursuant to a plea agreement. The trial court withheld adjudication of guilt as to both charges and sentenced Graham to concurrent three-year terms of probation with jail time. Id. at 54. Shortly thereafter, when Graham was seventeen-years old he was arrested again and charged with home invasion robbery. Graham’s probation officer charged Graham with violating the terms of his probation by “possessing a firearm, committing crimes, and associating with persons engaging in criminal activity.” When Graham appeared before the trial court where he maintained he had no involvement in the home invasion robbery, he admitted to violating his probation by fleeing arrest, even though the trial court emphasized that the admission could expose him to a life sentence based on his previous charges. Id. at 55.

After finding Graham had violated his probation, the trial judge, in his discretion, sentenced Graham to the maximum sentence of life. During the sentencing proceeding, the judge provided his reasoning for the sentence: “We can’t do anything to deter you. This is the way you are going to lead your life.... [T]hat is where we are today is I don’t see where I can do anything to help you any further.” Id. at 56-57. Florida had abolished its parole system; accordingly, the life sentence gave Graham no possibility of release unless he was granted executive clemency. Id. at 57.

The Supreme Court held that “for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole.” Id. at 74. Just as the Court did in

Roper, the Graham Court, relied upon developments in social science demonstrating the fundamental differences between juveniles and adults:

[D]evelopments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds. For example, parts of the brain involved in behavior control continue to mature through late adolescence. Juveniles are more capable of change than are adults, and their actions are less likely to be evidence of irretrievably depraved character than are the actions of adults. It remains true that from a moral standpoint it would be misguided to equate the failings of a minor with those of an adult, for a greater possibility exists that a minor's character deficiencies will be reformed.

Id. at 68 (internal citations omitted).

The Court explained the decision was “necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile non-homicide offenders who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.” Id. at 74. Although “[a] state is not required to guarantee the eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a non-homicide crime,” the state must “give defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. at 75. “[W]hile the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile non-homicide offender, it does not require the state to release that offender during his natural life.” Id. “The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of non-homicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life. It does forbid states from making the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society.” Id.

While explaining its rationale, the Graham Court noted that a life without parole sentence is the “second most severe penalty permitted by law.” Id. at 69 (internal citations omitted). Additionally, “life without parole sentences share some characteristics with death sentences that are shared by no other sentences.” Such a sentence “alters the offender’s life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable.” Id. For a juvenile offender, a life without parole sentence “means denial of hope; it

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