ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appeal from Dorchester County
Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

THOMAS SHEWTZUK,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-001957

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SHERRIE BUTTERBAUGH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 101477
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
AUG 28 2018
SC Court of Appeals

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

Drawing the line at 18 years of age is subject, of course, to the objections always raised against categorical rules. The qualities that distinguish juveniles from adults do not disappear when an individual turns 18. By the same token, some under 18 have already attained a level of maturity some adults will never reach. . . . [H]owever, a line must be drawn. . . . The age of 18 is the point where society draws the line of many purposes between childhood and adulthood. It is, we conclude, the age at which the line for death eligibility ought to rest.

Id. at 574. Federal appeals courts have refused to extend *Miller* or *Roper* to defendants, such as appellant, who commit crimes after they turn eighteen. See *United States v. Dock*, 541 F. App'x 242, 245 (4th Cir. 2013) (noting because the defendant was twenty years old, *Miller* "is of no help" to him); see also *Melton v. Fla. Dep't of Corr.*, 778 F.3d 1234, 1235 (11th Cir. 2015) ("*Roper*" prohibits only the imposition of the death penalty on a defendant who committed the capital crime when he was younger than 18 years old," whereas "Melton was 18 years, 25 days old when he committed the crime"); *Doyle v. Stephens*, 535 F. App'x 391, 395 (5th Cir. 2013) ("Doyle was over eighteen, so he cannot use [*Roper*] as a shield"). Appellant does not cite to any cases extending *Miller* or *Aiken* to people such as appellant who were adults at the time of their offense.

Accordingly, the sentence was not disproportionate to the crime committed, fit the offender given the information available and reviewed by the trial court, and should be affirmed by this Court.

II.

The trial court properly admitted the partially smoked cigarettes and DNA evidence subsequently obtained from them because the State established a chain of custody for the non-fungible evidence where the manner of handling was reasonably demonstrated and the witnesses involved in the chain testified the evidence was in a substantially unchanged condition.

The trial court properly admitted the partially smoked cigarettes found outside the gas station and the subsequent DNA evidence obtained from them. To the extent necessary, the State established a chain of custody for the non-fungible evidence where the handling was reasonably demonstrated by the witnesses involved in the chain, including the crime scene technician who collected the cigarettes and the SLED DNA analyst. Further, the SLED expert specifically testified the evidence was in a substantially unchanged condition when she received it. The establishment of a strict chain of custody was not required and the trial court did not err in admitting the non-fungible evidence. Moreover, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the other evidence considered by the jury, including surveillance video which showed appellant shoot the victim twice in the head, texts and calls between appellant and the victim which indicated they were together on the day of the murder, and multiple witnesses who testified appellant told them he shot the victim.

How the Issue Was Raised

Detective Jeff Scott (Scott) testified he found and collected partially smoked cigarettes outside the gas station. (R.p.99, line 23-p.100, line 2; p.101, lines 6-10; p.102, lines 13-21; p.107, lines 12-16; p.113, lines 8-12). Scott explained once the evidence was collected:

[I]t's placed into a dry chamber and it's allowed to dry. And then it's placed into an envelope and it[s] sealed, initialed and dated. And once it gets placed into the paper envelope, again placed into a plastic bag which is then heat sealed, and my initials and the date that I can see were placed on that bag. And then it is sent to SLED

for further processing.

(R.p.113, lines 17-25). After Scott collected the cigarettes and placed them in sealed envelopes, the non-fungible evidence was stored in a locker, a log was kept of all evidence in the locker, and only crime scene personnel had access to it. (R.p.114, lines 1-17). Scott also testified he executed a search warrant for appellant's DNA and obtained buccal swabs which were sent to SLED for comparison. (R.p.120, line 13-p.121, line 17).

Lillian Gallman (Gallman), a DNA analyst for SLED, explained the process for any evidence brought to the agency:

Whenever evidence is brought to SLED, it doesn't come in a heat sealed pouch like this. What we would receive is what you see as this envelope that's on the inside, would come to SLED. The envelope is then placed inside this heat sealed pouch. And it is sealed and then initialed by the submitting agent at the time.

(R.p.128, lines 20-24; p.128, line 25-p.130, line 18; p.132, line 18-p.133, line 1). Gallman testified the pouch containing the cigarette was sealed properly when she received it and specifically noted for the trial court:

[T]he first thing is that I check – there was only one seal on the pouch at all. And that was the one at the top that was sealed by Stephanie Spellbourne. Because that's listed on our chain as the person that sealed it. And then the next time when it was opened, it was opened by me. And then I sealed it and dated it and initialed it.

(R.p.136, line 17-p.137, line 6). If an evidence pouch was not sealed properly, Gallman testified the procedure in place at SLED required her to "backtrack; go back to the login area and find out why this was not sealed" before proceeding with testing. (R.p.133, lines 13-17). Gallman also stated the envelope containing appellant's buccal swabs was not tampered with when she received it. (R.p.132, line 13-p.133, line 20).

Defense counsel objected to the introduction of the DNA evidence, arguing the State

failed to establish a complete chain of custody because the State had not explained "who took it from Dorchester County to SLED." (R.p.131, line 24-p.132, line 6; p.135, lines 19-23; p.141, lines 16-19). The State countered a full chain of custody was not required "as long as we can show, you know, the majority of the chain and they can identify it and say it was secured." (R.p.132, lines 7-10). The parties also held a bench conference regarding the issue. (R.p.135, line 16-p.136, line 9; p.331, line 18-p.332, line 22; p.355 line 19-p.358, line 10). The trial court overruled the objection and admitted the evidence, finding the chain established. (R.p.132, line 11; p.136, lines 11-13; pp.408-09).

Analysis

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's rulings either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. *Id.* at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265.

Chain of Custody was Established for Non-Fungible Evidence

"The 'chain of custody' rule is but a variation of the principle that real evidence must be authenticated prior to its admission into evidence." *United States v. Howard-Arias*, 679 F.2d 363, 366 (4th Cir. 1982). A party offering into evidence fungible items such as drugs or blood samples must establish a complete chain of custody as far as practicable. *State v. Sweet*, 374 S.C. 1, 6, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007). However, testimony from each custodian of fungible evidence is not a prerequisite to establishing a chain of custody sufficient for admissibility. *Id.* at

7, 647 S.E.2d at 206.

"While the chain of custody requirement is strict where fungible evidence is involved, where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence—that is, evidence that is unique and identifiable—the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required." *State v.*

Frieburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005).

If the offered item possesses characteristics which are fairly unique and readily identifiable, and if the substance of which the item is composed is relatively impervious to change, the trial court is viewed as having broad discretion to admit merely on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged position.

Id. at 134, 620 S.E.2d at 741-42.

Importantly, our Supreme Court has held, even where fungible evidence is at issue, it "will uphold the chain of custody if the safeguards instituted ensure the integrity of the evidence, even if every person associated with the procedure is not personally identified." *South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Serv. v. Cochran*, 364 S.C. 621, 629, 614 S.E.2d 642, 646 (2005). The Court explained:

Courts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts. "The trial judge's exercise of discretion must be reviewed in the light of the following factors: . . . 'the nature of the article, the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it.'" "If upon the consideration of such factors the trial judge is satisfied that in reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects, he may permit its introduction in evidence."

State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 94-95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 754-55 (2011) (internal citations omitted).

"The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be." *Id.* at 95, 708 S.E.2d at 755.

This Court has noted, "[W]here the handling of evidence is reasonably demonstrated, a weakness in the chain implicates credibility, but does not render the evidence inadmissible." *State v. Taylor*, 360 S.C. 18, 24-25, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004) (citation omitted). In *Taylor*, this Court found the chain was established because the State could show the drugs were secure in evidence bags and not tampered with, even without the testimony of an evidence custodian. *Id.* at 21, 25, 598 S.E.2d at 736, 738. *Cf. State v. Pulley*, Op. No. 27811 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 6, 2018) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 23) (explaining the chain of custody was not established for the drugs because too much was left to conjecture given, in part, the "express denial of handling the cocaine" by an officer, a failure to determine how another officer obtained possession of the drugs, and an indication the drugs were left unsecured on the hood of an officer's cruiser).

Appellant contends the State did not present a complete chain of custody because the person who transported the cigarettes and appellant's buccal swab from the sheriff's office to SLED did not testify. However, the State was not required to present the testimony of every individual in the chain of custody because the cigarettes and buccal swab were non-fungible evidence, the method of handling the evidence was sufficiently established, witnesses in the chain testified the evidence was not tampered with, and other factors demonstrated the evidence was what it was purported to be. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the DNA evidence.

Scott testified once he collected the partially smoked cigarettes, the evidence was placed in an envelope, sealed, initialed, dated, and stored in an evidence locker where only crime scene personnel had access to it before it was sent to SLED for processing. (R.pp.113-14). Similarly, the buccal swabs were obtained, securely held, and sent to SLED. (R.pp.120-21). Scott's

testimony indicated the evidence was not manipulated or tampered with in any way while in the custody of the sheriff's office.

Gallman testified the pouches containing the evidence were properly sealed and not tampered with when she received them and specifically noted the names listed in the chain before her, and that she was the next one to open them, date them, and initial them. (R.pp.132-33; pp.136-37). In addition, Gallman stated if it appeared the envelopes had been tampered with prior to the time she received them, she would not have proceeded with testing. (R.p.133). Pursuant to her testimony, there were steps in place to ensure the evidence was secure while in SLED's custody.

The State need not eliminate all possibility of tampering. *See State v. Rogers*, 361 S.C. 178, 187, 603 S.E.2d 910, 915 (Ct. App. 2004) ("South Carolina law does not require testimony as to the exclusion of any possibility of tampering."). Instead, the State need only demonstrate a "reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects." *Hatcher*, 392 S.C. at 94-95, 708 S.E.2d at 754-55. The testimony of both witnesses established the evidence in question—non-fungible items—had not changed and they verified the items were what they were purported to be. *See Frieburger*, 366 S.C. at 134, 620 S.E.2d at 741-42 (holding a strict chain of custody for non-fungible evidence is not required, and the trial court has discretion to admit items merely on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged position). The jury was presented with the partially smoked cigarette, the buccal swab, and the DNA results, and could see they were the same as the day they were obtained. Scott and Gallman also testified to the safeguards in place at both agencies to limit access to the evidence and ensure its integrity. *See Cochran*, 364 S.C. at 629, 614 S.E.2d at 646 (explaining courts will uphold chains of custody if the safeguards instituted ensure the integrity

of the evidence, even if every person associated with the procedure is not personally identified). Their testimony demonstrated no one tampered with the evidence and established the chain of custody. The trial court properly exercised its broad discretion in admitting the DNA evidence. *See Hatcher*, 392 S.C. at 94-95, 708 S.E.2d at 754-55 (holding a trial court must review several factors to determine if a chain of custody is established and if the court is satisfied with a "reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects, he may permit its introduction in evidence" in his discretion). Accordingly, the trial court did not err in concluding the State sufficiently established the chain of custody to authenticate the evidence.

Harmless Error

Any possible error in admitting the evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985). No definite rule of law governs the finding of harmless error; rather, the error's materiality and prejudicial character must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. *Mitchell*, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151; *see also State v. Mizzell*, 349 S.C. 326, 333, 563 S.E.2d 315, 318-19 (2002) (listing the factors of a harmless error analysis, including the importance of the witness's testimony, whether the testimony was cumulative, the extent of cross-examination, and the overall strength of the State's case) (citation omitted).

The partially smoked cigarettes found outside the gas station and subsequent DNA match to appellant were cumulative to other evidence that established appellant's presence at the scene of the deadly shooting, including surveillance video that showed appellant shoot the victim twice in the head and showed appellant's numerous identifying tattoos. (R.pp.88-90; pp.181-82; pp.218-20). Appellant's cousin and father confirmed to investigators and during trial appellant

called them and admitted he killed someone. (R.pp.199-200; pp.207-08; p.212). Appellant also told his cousin he was going to commit the murder shortly before the shooting. (R.pp.195-96). In addition, a former girlfriend identified appellant as the possible shooter prior to his arrest and testified she saw him with a black handgun the day before the murder. (R.p.38; pp.221-23). Finally, prints found inside the victim's van matched appellant's and text messages and phone calls between appellant and the victim indicated the two were together the morning of the murder. (R.p.142; p.155; pp.158-60; pp.167-68; pp.230-35).

In light of the other evidence establishing appellant's guilt, it is clear the jury would have convicted appellant even if the DNA evidence had not been admitted at trial. Therefore, while respondent submits the trial court's ruling was not an abuse of discretion, any alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted this Court should affirm appellant's convictions and sentences, and let stand the decisions of the trial court as to both issues.